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United States Government
Federal Communications Commission

Consumer & Governmental Affairs Bureau
Disability Rights Office

445lzth Stueet, SW
Wâshington, D.C. 20554

OFFICIAL

NOTICE OF INFORMAL COMPLAINT

March 12,2010
In reply refer to case number: t0-C00200195 (SK)

(CourtrighÐ (KATV-TV)

THE COMPAIYY IDENTIFIED IN THE ATTACHED COMPLAINT IS REOUIRED TO RESPOND
TO THIS NOTICE OF IIYFORMAL COMPLAINT WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS
NOTICE. Failure of any person to answer any lawful Commission inquiry is considered a
misdemeanor punishable by a fine under Section a09(m) of the Communications Act (Act),47 U.S.C. $
409(m). Further, failure to comply with any order of the Commission can result in prosecution uncler
Section40f0)ofthe Act,47 U.S.C.$401(b). Section50lofthe Act,47 U.S.C.g50l,andSecrion
503(bXlXB) of the Act,47 U.S.C. $ 503(bXlXB), provide for forfeiture penalties against any person
who willfully fails to follow the directives of the Act or of a Commission order. The Commission can
impose forfeiture penalties of up to $1.2 million for certain types of violations.

The attached complaint was filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 713 of the Act,47 U.S.C. $ 613,
and Section 79.1 of the Commissiort's Rules, 47 C.F.R. $ 79.l. A letter acknowledging your company's
receipt of this Notice and of the enclosed cornplaint should be sent to each consurner Cornplainant as soon as
your company receives this Notice. Pursuant to Sections 713 and 4(i) of the Act, 47 U.S.C. $$ 613, I 54(i),
and Section 79.1(g) of the Commission's Rules,47 C.F.R. $ 79.1(g), we are forwarding a copy of the
complaint so that your company may satisfo or answer the cornplaint based on a thorough review of all
relevant records and other infonnation. Your company should rcsponcl specifically to all rnaterial allegations
raised in each complaint and summarize the actions taken by your company to satisfy the complaint.

Your response should include: (l) the Complainant's name, ancl (2) the Case number. For hand
deliveries, the Commission's contractor, Natek, Inc., will receive hand-delivered or messenger-delivered
paper filings for the Commission's Secretary at236 Massachusetts Avenue, NE, Suite ! 10, Washington, D.C.
20002. The filing hours at this location are 8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday-Friday. All hand deliveries must
be held together with rubber bands or fasteners. Any envelopes must be disposed of before entering the
building. Commercial overnight mail (other than U.S. Postal Service Express Mail and Priority Mail) rnust be
sent to 9300 East Hampton Drive, Capitol Heights, MD 20743. U.S. Postal Service fìrst-class mail, Express
Mail, and Priority Mail should be addressed to 445 12th Street, SW, Washington, D.C. Z0SS4.

Due to heightened security measures undertaken in Washington, D.C., and at this agency, you should also
send an electronic copy of the response letter to Cheryl.Kine@fcc.eov. Companies are dirccted to send
copies of their responses to consumers at the same time their responses are forwarcled to the Commission.
Each company required to respond to this Notice is directed to retain all records until final Commissiolt
disposition of the cornplaints. If you have any questions regardirrg this Notice, please call or ernail Fmncine
Crawford at Q02) 418-0287 or Sherita.Kennedv@.fcc.sov, and leave a detailed message specifuing the
calling company nalne, the Case nurnber, and the spegific questious that yoLr would like to have answered.ñthe lik(
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2000C (Disabitity Access Comptaint) : 10-C0020019S_1
USER FORM

user comptaint Number: i0-c002001;1qons!me-rPa¡)1 
H¡qtgry --t'consqmerHlstory --1-rsrm-Hiçta'ry, [r..] Eo¡t ro¡m

cornpra¡nt source: web 
Yvv-vv ¡vs user cornplaínt Key: 'r0-c00200r9s-1

submiss¡on date: o3ß2r2o1o 
Added user: co'sumor

CoNSUMER.s INFoRMATIoN
First Name: John

Conrpany Nante;
Last Nanle: Courtright

z¡p Code 7212a

(comprete onry if you are fìring this compraint on beharf of a company or an or(,anizat¡c'r.)
Street Address or post Offìce Box Nunìber: 39 Falcon Dr.
City: Sherwood Stale: AR

Telephone Nunlbe(Res¡derìt¡al or Bus¡ness): (S0l) 246 _g458 Ext:
E-rnail Address: ArkansasJRC@aol.corn

ilil::Jll1'Jf"',?Î'Jl,i':],'1:fflirr 
or another padv, s(rch as cr¡enr, pare,,r, spo,,se or roo,nn,are?

Your relationsh¡p wíth the pady:

The parly's first name:

The party's last name;

The party's daytime phone nurnber: { ) - Ëxt:

The party's slreet address or post olfice box nr¡mber:

City: State: Zip Code:

E-nrail Address:

Fax Nr.lnber: (901) 324 - 9S9i

üi.?ilfrit' 
Please indicate the prererred format or method of response to rhe compraint bydefendant:

No

the Commíssíon and

[::g . ]l¡ Facsirnite (fax) ]-l Tetephone Voico

l-, I:: ,ig.'l,l;t";:;:; ),iîhs ,no appropr.iare contacr ¡nrornrarion)í' rrv rJ rnternet E-mair l:'nìäi;;;;"ïtffi;ä,il'Ji,iå'"*.,"n r Bra¡,e

Fonm 2000c:
1 . Clleck lhe appropriate box for your type of cornplairìt:

;.,li'3:ïiåiiåI',1* 
*"'nu service (rRS) (ie rrY-based' lP Rerav caprer' rP capret' spoech{o-speech, VicJeo

f-: Accessibility of enrergency infonnalion on televisiorr
ü Closed Captioning
fl wireless telephone equ¡pn.ìent or service (includes hearing aid conìpatib¡líty ân(t oilìer acc4ssib¡l¡ty issues)i"^ wire line telephone equipnrent or service (includes hearing aicl conrpatibility anct olher accessibility issues)

' 
tiüi:,'lî::iå;Hîï and rerephone nunrber (if known) of rrre conrpanv(s) invorvecr ¡n vour conrprainr:

City: Litfle Rock State: ARZip Code:72201

Tetephone number: (50,1) 324- 2727

3. lf your complaint is about access¡bility of teleconl
firó equtpmãirt óii.u¡"" that this comptâ¡nt,, ,oållln'tut'o'ìs 

servìces or equiprnerìt, provide the rnake and rnoctet numr¡er of
4 rf yor-rr cornpraint is abor¡t crosed captioning or ernefgency information on telev¡s¡on,

åi:ii:Jff,H:éTil,,::g'J,I,lí:i:ll:,J,:'lî 
i:;î,,"iTi:ìi;llï,îå,å,:.,'îï::']lî:::,,,,î",acrion you are comp,ain¡,,s

5 lf yourcontplaint is alrout access to ernergency inforrnation on telc'vision. provicfe the following irìfornìat¡on:

rttp://wtbwww06.fcc.gov/ccms/2000/manageFoun.action?complaint_key=10_C00200195_l&fonn 

_type=2... 3lg/2010
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LUlVlt Admin

Page2 of2
a. ïelevision station call sign ancl nelwork nante (if âpplicable), or channel narne"Sportingchannel West,,): KATV "WZUF,

b. Channet (e.g., ,,13'): 
Z

c. Station or subscr¡ption TV prov¡der system location:
City: Litfle Rock State: AR

d. Date(s) and t¡me(s) of ernergency: and t¡me

ä:[:r:*"ttion 
of the emerger]cv (i'e', flood, hu'icane, tonraclo, etc., as lver as rhe areâs in which the emergency

lf your complaint is about closed caplíoning, provide the following:t 
ä:ffiHi':,t*:1ï"" 

tno n"tuio'r nt#'iìr'upo"tabre), or crranner name (e.s.. 'wzuF.cBc,.'wzu'-rv,,

b. Station frequency (e.g., ,,tozo, 
or,,BB.s,,): or channel (e.g., ,,,13,):

c. Stalion or subscript¡on TV provider system location:
City: State:

d' Nanre of program(s) il¡vorved: America Funnios video, Home rrnprovemênt, Locar News
Br¡efry descfibe your compra¡nt a'd incrude the resorutionl,i5::ffiì:,iî*H::::n.1î{irîjuå:'j",tiåiru1,ffi,,ïiiöiË. 

,",,
ßi:îöffiSï':-î.'åìïit"i",í".*T:î:1f:',.,îî'J:#,'.'ËËäi,äjl,"f??,i,ï,1il',,T,ons be,uice ai,óuì *-rì¡ðniiiJ.o,npr.¡nt

ttp://wtbwww06.fcc.gov/ccms/2000/manageForm.action?complaint_key= 
l0-C002001 95- l &form_ type:2... 3/9/2010



.,
Debby Hook

From: Mark Rose
Sent: Friday, April02, 2010 9:43 AM
To: 'arkansasJRO@aol.com'
Cc: Allen Finne; Debby Hook
Subiect: KATV

This e-mail is for Mr. John Courtright.

Mr. Courtright, it is my understanding you are having challenges with l(ATV's closed caption. I believe you mentioned the
captions were not accurate and garbled

Please call me when you have a moment. I want to see if you are still having these challenges.

Thank you,

Mark Rose
Sr. Vice Presídent / General Manager
KATV-TV
501-324-7803
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RE: John Courlrlghî FCC Nofice oî tnformol Compløtnt Cose #to-C OO2OO|ìS$A
Via cerlllled moìl

Deor Mr. Courtright:

We qre in receipl of o Nolice of lnformol Comploint filed by you on Morch 12,2oll.
This letter is in response lo lhol. comploinl ond we hope ïo oddress your concerns.

You indicoted lhol fhe closed coptioning for lhree shows wos nol qccurole ondgorbled on Februory 28,2010. The three shows were Americo's Funniesl Home videoi, Homelmprovemenf ond Locol News. we do not oir fhe show "Home lmprovemenl,, on KATV. ourLocol News oirs ol 5:30 ond Americos Funniest Home Videor 
"in 

ñghi ;ir*'ir..,ãi'åi å:oo onsolurdoys. I checked our discreponcy report for thoi ¿oy onJsóãtel¡tn 1¡e monogei of ourMosler Controldeportmenl ond we experienced no problems *itn ow closed coplioning onthot doy' This is not fo soy lhot you did not experience o problem, just fhot we did nol.

There is nol on indicqlor on the comploinl form os lo how you receive your signol.we connol occurolely respond unless we hove thís informotion. lt ís helpful lo know if youreceive your signol vio.oulside.onlenno, digítol decoder, 
"oOÈ 

Oo" decoder, DirecTV or D¡shNelwork in order ro determine rhe source of your crosed coptioning probrem.

I senl on emoil to you on April 2na os you indicoted lhof fhis wos your prefenedformol for response. A copy of my emoil is enclosed.

Pleose respond by colling, vio emoil or regulor moil os to how your signol is receivedond we will further invesligole your comploint.

Mr. John Courtright
39 Folcon Drive
Sherwood, AR 72120

Thonk you for wolching KATVI

Cc: FCC Consumer ond Governmenfol Affoirs Bureou
Disobility Rights Office
445 t2rh ST SW
Woshingfon, DC 2OSS4

Apriló,2010

Sincerely,

ATV LLC

st Office Box 77

ittle Rock. AR

2203

501.324.7777

vvw.l<atv.com

#e
Senior Vice Presidenl

& GenerolMonoger
501-324-7803

5O1.324.7803 Office
5O1 .837.7803 Ceil
5O1 .324.7524 Fax

Mark Rose
Sr. Vice President

É General Manager
mrose@katv.com

KATV. LLC. . p0 Box 77 Linte Bockl;FTZ2û3 €
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From:
Sent:
lo:
Cc:
Subiect:
Attachments:

Debby Hook
Tuesday, April06, 201011:03 AM
'arkansasjrc@aol.com';'Cheryl. Kíng@fcc. gov'
Mark Rose
j9!1 c,o^t{tright FCC Notice of tnformat comptaint case #10-c002001gs(sK)
0395_001.pdf

The ottoched leffer is in response to John courtright Fcc Noflce of lnîormol Comptainf Cose#t0-c00200t9s(sK).
The letter wos senf via certìfied mair ro ott inferesfed porfies todoy.



From:
9rnt:
to:
SubJoct:

IATV Webteam fwebteam@kâtv.com I

!rlg"y, March u, zol o r l:, rã-Clri-"',
DoÞþy Hook
Ncw Feedback from I(ATV.COM

^^^Please do not reply to this feedback^^^

J'R' Courtrigrrt has submitted the foilowing feedback to genrnanager:

As a ?caf person, I would like to say thr
?':iõ.iïñ;i'v.pp,",i.tes trris, ióo. iäli'i'.iå:ï',i:'åï 3iïÍ;':f,i:iii#Hî'jffiiî- and the
garbled/absçnr messages tonight. ixr" rgain, you have ou¡ thanks.

To respond to this message go ro:
htþ:i/nb2.irides.com

useragent=Mozilla'4'0 (compatible; MSIE 7:o-; 40! 10. I ; Aol-Build 2.l.g4.l; b¡and-ac¡l; windows NT 6.0;$iiiSiiÎ,,Ì-1',îå;Àii":'å:#glggy-ruff j,,*-äiï¡'',072e;¡rrói¡i303072e:
ip=68.51.2i.31

/l/t5 ¿-vnrVz /Ø5 fi¿,Vtr 7o 7/* éz*Êz7a^r

,4/''/¿/¿ ll/¿ ,ËÞ/n4¿ (¿.y.rrtaz4t,/,r â/'?g t:'l¿¿D ¿¿t;r/y'

lt/t- ¿.¿e (Aur ó¿-r¡t4¿' Knry llf¿tâ¿¿/ .4.[(t-7t/t2
f//€ /11>t7cF ,Éz¿/^ r/lt /-¿4 ,, X¡:¡¿¿t'il, f//F t,55tt1--

,t/nS 4p*N z4çáÞl/rb ,&-tr p€- e/<8 2&tÇt2 ro
ßgg,ep*à i-Cz f/z?,reÊn4 z- ¿?2¡..?2777n77- .,/ezl¿f/tZ-¿ø.

)aaezl.y'z)k-



Debby Hook

From: Mark Rose
Sent: Monday, Apri112,201012:42PM
To: Debby Hook
Subject: J R Courtright

Debby,

Italked with J R Courtright, through an interrupter, concerning the closed captioning challenges she had with the
ABC/KATV programming. J R Courtright is pleased and has not had the challenges previously experienced. I asked for. them to contact me personally in the future if there any other issues.

Please place this e-mail in the file.

Thanks,

Mark


